STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

---

Certiorari to Laurens County  
Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

Opinion No. 2016-UP-010 (S.C. Ct. App. filed 1/13/2016)  
11-GS-30-633

---

**ORIGINAL**

**RECEIVED**

APR 18 2016

**SC SUPREME COURT**

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JAMES CLYDE DILL, JR.,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-000724

---

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI  
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

JOHN H. STROM  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, S. C. 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER.

**

## **QUESTIONS PRESENTED**

### **I.**

Did the Court of Appeals err by affirming the trial court's refusal to suppress evidence found during the execution of a search warrant where the search warrant affidavit and supplemental testimony was insufficient for the magistrate to establish a substantial basis for probable cause?

### **II.**

Did the Court of Appeals err by affirming the trial court's upholding of the validity of the search warrant because, to the extent the magistrate may have had a substantial basis to believe probable cause existed, the magistrate was misled by knowingly false statements made by law enforcement which were material to the determination of probable cause?

### **III.**

Did the Court of Appeals err by affirming trial court's refusal to reveal the identity of the confidential informant because confidential informant acted beyond the scope of a mere tipster and the informant's identity was relevant and helpful to Appellant and essential to a fair determination of Appellant's case?

### **IV.**

Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the trial court's denial of Appellant's motion for a directed verdict on the charge of manufacture of methamphetamine where the prosecution failed to present any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence that Appellant engaged in production, preparation, propagation, compounding, conversion or processing of any substance containing amphetamine or methamphetamine?

## STATEMENT

On February 15, 2011, Laurens County Sheriff Deputy Justin Moody presented Magistrate Wayne Copeland with a search warrant for Appellant's residence based only on information received from a confidential informant:

Laurens County Sheriff's Office has received information [in] last 72 hours that *the location is an active methamphetamine lab is in [sic] operation. The confidential informant working in an undercover capacity with the Laurens County Sheriff's Office* was at that location and did see numerous items that [are] used in the fashion of methamphetamine.

R. 18, ll. 7-13 (*emphasis added*). Moody also testified to the magistrate that the informant had been reliable in two past cases. R. 23, ll. 11 – R. 27, ll. 24. Based on the warrant affidavit and supplemental testimony provided by Deputy Moody, the magistrate approved the search warrant. R. 25, ll. 14 – R. 26, ll. 4.

No active methamphetamine lab was discovered. R. 91, ll. 12-17. Nor were any ephedrine, lithium strips/batteries, drain cleaners, sulfuric acid, or other common reactants found at the residence. *Id.*; R. 78, ll. 19 – R. 79, ll. 20. Deputies did discover salt containers, canisters of Coleman brand camping fuel, and hypodermic needles. R. 68, ll. 6-15. After searching the backyard, deputies located what they alleged was an HCL generator consisting of a one liter soda bottle with the top cut off. R. 67, ll. 1-5.

After concluding the search, deputies placed the above discovered items in buckets, took four photographs, and then immediately destroyed all of the items without any testing on the ostensible grounds that the evidence contained hazardous or toxic chemicals. R.72, ll. 11 – R. 73, ll. 10.

Appellant moved to reveal the identity of the informant or, in the alternative, to suppress the evidence found during the execution of the warrant for lack of probable cause. R. 18, ll. 16 – R. 19, ll. 22. Appellant argued that the identity of the informant was essential to the defense’s case and that there was nothing in the warrant from which a magistrate could make an informed decision regarding probable cause. R. 34, ll. 11 – R. 35, ll. 15.

Appellant highlighted inconsistencies in the warrant affidavit, stating initially that there was an active methamphetamine lab at the residence, only to conclude with the more ambiguous statement that just material necessary for the manufacturing of methamphetamine was present. R. 28, ll. 10-15. Appellant maintained that without the chance to confront the informant, he had no way to determine the cause of this inconsistency; no way to determine what the informant actually saw; and no way to test the informant’s credibility. R. 31, ll. 3-14. Appellant also argued that the warrant affidavit and Moody’s testimony claimed that police exercised a high level of supervision and control over the informant. R. 21, ll. 5-13.

Oddly the State argued at trial that they, in fact, exercised no control over the informant, “[the informant] was not sent under the authority of the Sheriff’s office and merely observed [the manufacture].” R. 20, ll. 8-18. The State based the informant’s reliability solely on the accuracy of his two past tips, which Deputy Moody apparently explained to the magistrate in his unrecorded supplemental testimony. R. 20, ll. 12-18.

The State summarized its position as, “whether this is a confidential informant or a mere tipster, *although the affidavit says this is a confidential informant working with the Laurens County Sheriffs Office, we are not disputing that* ... this person worked with the Sheriff’s office. But as our affiant can tell you, they weren't working with the Sheriff’s office with regards to this actual incident” R. 21, ll. 22 – R. 22, ll. 4 (*emphasis added*).

According to the State, the undercover confidential informant was, in reality, a mere tipster because the State was now claiming that the informant was not acting at the behest of police. R. 20, ll. 1-9. Despite Moody's affidavit to the contrary, the State somehow averred that "Moody testified that when he spoke with the magistrate he told the magistrate that he had received the information that the individual had seen a meth lab at the house. *[Moody] didn't say that the individual was working undercover* and bought meth for them to go and then bust the individual." R. 37, ll. 17-24 (*emphasis added*).

The State contended that, while the warrant described the informant as a "confidential informant working in an undercover capacity," the informant was not working in that capacity in Appellant's case and, thus, was a mere tipster regardless of how Moody portrayed the informant to the Magistrate. *Id.* Moreover, Moody's testimony on the informant's past reliability satisfied both the reliability and veracity prongs needed for probable cause. R. 20, ll. 13-18. Ultimately, the State reasoned that the term: "confidential informant working in an undercover capacity" was *irrelevant* to the determination of reliability or probable cause. R. 36, ll. 9 – R. 37, ll. 2.

Appellant countered that the State had bolstered the reliability of the informant by describing him as a "confidential informant working in an undercover capacity" when in front of the magistrate, only to later downplay the informant as a mere "tipster" when in front of the trial judge so as to avoid making the informant available to the defense. R. 37, ll. 5-16. The court denied Appellant's motion, "the search warrant as it is based upon the inference that the informant was *nothing more than a tipster.*" R. 38, ll. 2-9 (*emphasis added*).

In a belated effort to push the State into offering a plea, the court noted that the warrant return was inconsistent with the items sought by police when seeking the warrant as only two of the fifteen items sought were located. R. 39, ll. 12 – R. 40, ll. 17. The court also noted "[t]here is

not a house in Laurens county that doesn't have one of the ingredients". R. 41, ll. 7-8. The court found it odd that a highly reliable informant, who was at the residence seventy two hours prior to the search, would have been so wrong about the items found in the residence. R. 41, ll. 16-20.

### Directed Verdict

At the close of the State's case, trial counsel moved for a directed verdict arguing that no methamphetamine was discovered during the search. R. 91, ll. 12-17. Nor were there any ephedrine, lithium strips/batteries, drain cleaners, or sulfuric acid found at the residence. *Id.*; R. 78, ll. 19 – R. 79, ll. 20. None of the evidence was tested for the presence of methamphetamine prior to destruction. R. 81, ll. 1-21.

The State countered that while the ingredients found were common household items, the presence of the alleged HCL generator in the backyard and the testimony from law enforcement presented sufficient evidence of manufacturing to submit the case to the jury. R. 96, ll. 2-19. The trial court denied the directed verdict motion finding that. R. 101, ll. 1-5.

### Court of Appeals

The Court of Appeals (Short, Geathers, and McDonald, JJ.) affirmed Appellant's conviction in a summary opinion. *State v. Dill*, 2016-UP-010 (Ct. App. Filed January 13, 2016). In concluding that the trial court did not err in finding that the magistrate properly found probable cause to issue the search warrant, the Court relied on *State v. Keith*, 356 S.C. 129, 588 S.E.2d 145 (Ct. App. 2003) and *State v. 192 Coin-Operated Video Game Machines*, 338 S.C. 176, 525 S.E.2d 872 (2000).

In affirming the trial court's refusal to find the magistrate was misled by false information, the Court cited to *State v. Robinson*, 408 S.C. 268, 758 S.E.2d 725 (Ct. App.), for the holding that "a court may not suppress evidence "simply because the officer made a false statement in, or omitted

key facts from, an affidavit supporting a search warrant’ . . . the proponent of suppression must demonstrate the false statement or omissions rendered the affidavit unable to support a finding of probable cause.”

In affirming the trial court’s refusal to require the State to reveal the identity of the confidential informant, the Court relied on *State v. Humphries*, 354 S.C. 87, 579 S.E.2d 613 (2003). Finally, in affirming the trial court’s denial of a directed verdict, the Court cited to *State v. Cherry*, 361 S.C. 588, 606 S.E.2d 475 (2004) and *State v. Hudson*, 277 S.C. 200, 284 S.E.2d 773 (1982).

#### Petition for Rehearing

On January 28, 2016, Appellant filed a petition for rehearing. Appellant argued that the Court of Appeals erred in upholding the issuance of the search warrant because the warrant provided no information regarding the informant’s basis of knowledge. Moreover, that the Court’s reliance on *192 Video Game Machines* was misplaced as there was no independent pre-search warrant corroboration of the informant’s information.

Appellant also argued that the Court erred in affirming the trial court’s ruling that the magistrate was not misled by the use of the term “confidential informant working in an undercover capacity.” The inaccuracy of the warrant affidavit represented, at the very least, a reckless disregard for the truth about the informant’s role and the mischaracterization had a material impact on the magistrate’s probable cause determination. Finally, Appellant contended that the Court erred in affirming the trial court’s refusal to order the State to disclose the identity of the informant and that the Court erred in affirming the trial court’s denial of Appellant’s directed verdict motion.

The Court of Appeals denied Appellant’s petition for rehearing on February 25, 2016.

## ARGUMENT

### I.

**The Court of Appeals erred by affirming the trial court’s refusal to suppress evidence found during the execution of a search warrant where the search warrant affidavit and supplemental testimony was insufficient for the magistrate to establish a substantial basis for probable cause?**

The Court of Appeals erred by affirming the trial court’s refusal to suppress the evidence found during the search because without additional investigation into the residence and sufficient indicia of the informant’s reliability and basis of knowledge in this particular case; the search warrant affidavit and supplemental testimony was insufficient to establish probable cause. R. 38, ll. 2-9; *State v. Sachs*, 264 S.C. 541, 562, 216 S.E.2d 501, 512 (1975).

The Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution guarantees “[t]he right of the people to be secure . . . [from] unreasonable searches and seizures.” U.S. Const. amend. IV. Notably, the South Carolina General Assembly “has imposed stricter requirements than federal law for issuing a search warrant.

Both the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I, § 10 of the South Carolina Constitution require an oath or affirmation before probable cause can be found by an officer of the court, and a search warrant issued.” *State v. Jones*, 342 S.C. 121, 128, 536 S.E.2d 675, 678 (2000); U.S. Const. amend. IV. The South Carolina Code mandates that a search warrant “shall be issued only upon affidavit sworn to before the magistrate, municipal judicial officer, or judge of a court of record . . . .” S.C. Code Ann. § 17-13-140 (1985).

“The affidavit must contain sufficient underlying facts and information upon which the magistrate may make a determination of probable cause.” *State v. Philpot*, 317 S.C. 458, 454

S.E.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1995). A magistrate may issue a search warrant only upon a finding of probable cause. *State v. Bellamy*, 336 S.C. 140, 143, 519 S.E.2d 347, 348 (1999).

The magistrate should determine probable cause based on all of the information available to the magistrate at the time the warrant was issued. *State v. Dupree*, 354 S.C. 676, 684, 583 S.E.2d 437, 441 (Ct. App. 2003). Evidence obtained in violation of the Fourth Amendment is inadmissible in both state and federal court. *See State v. Forrester*, 343 S.C. 637, 643, 541 S.E.2d 837, 840 (2001).

In terms of a circuit court's review of a magistrate's finding of probable cause, “[t]he duty of the reviewing court is to ensure the issuing magistrate had a substantial basis upon which to conclude that probable cause existed.” *State v. Baccus*, 367 S.C. 41, 50, 625 S.E.2d 216, 221 (2006). As the United States Supreme Court held in *Illinois v. Gates*:

An affidavit must provide the magistrate with a substantial basis for determining the existence of probable cause, and [a] wholly conclusory statement... [fails] to meet this requirement. *An officer's statement that “affiants have received reliable information from a credible person and believe” that heroin is stored in a home, is likewise inadequate. This is a mere conclusory statement that gives the magistrate virtually no basis at all for making a judgment regarding probable cause.* Sufficient information must be presented to the magistrate to allow that official to determine probable cause; his action cannot be a mere ratification of the bare conclusions of others.

462 U.S. 213, 238, 103 S.Ct. 2317, 2333-2334 (1983) (internal citations omitted) (*emphasis added*). The crucial element in evaluating whether a substantial basis exists is not whether the target of the search is suspected of a crime, but whether it is reasonable to believe that the items to be seized will be found in the place to be searched. *Zurcher v. Stanford Daily*, 436 U.S. 547, 556 & n. 6 (1978).

In determining whether the information relied upon by law enforcement is reliable, no one factor is necessary or sufficient to establish probable cause. *Dupree*, 354 S.C. at 685, 583 S.E.2d at 442 (2003). Probable cause arises from the totality of the circumstances, and “[a] deficiency in one [factor] may be compensated for, in determining the overall reliability of a tip, by a strong showing as to the other, or by some other indicia of reliability.” *State v. Gentile*, 373 S.C. 506, 515-516, 646 S.E.2d 171, 175-176 (Ct. App. 2008).

Oral testimony may also be used to supplement search warrant affidavits which are facially insufficient to establish probable cause. *See State v. Weston*, 329 S.C. 287, 494 S.E.2d 801 (1997); *see also State v. Sachs*, 364 S.C. 541, 216 S.E.2d 501 (1975). However, “[i]n reviewing the validity of a warrant, an appellate court may consider only information brought to the magistrate's attention.” *State v. Thompson*, 363 S.C. 192, 200, 609 S.E.2d 556, 560 (Ct. App. 2005).

In Appellant's case, under the totality of the circumstances, the search warrant affidavit and the supplemental oral testimony of Deputy Moody failed to establish a substantial basis to support a finding of probable cause. First, the affidavit and oral testimony lacked sufficient indicia of the informant's reliability, as Moody only relied improperly upon *prior* unrelated information and unsubstantiated claims by the informant. R.34, ll. 1-8; *United States v. Ross*, 456 U.S. 798, 800-801 (1982); *State v. Peters*, 271 S.C. 498, 500-502, 248 S.E.2d 475, 476-477 (1978); *State v. Bultron*, 318 S.C. 323, 327, 457 S.E.2d 616, 619 (Ct. App. 1995).

Second, Law enforcement did not independently corroborate the informant's tip. *See Gates*, 462 U.S. at 241, 103 S.Ct. 2317 (“Our decisions applying the totality of circumstances analysis . . . have consistently recognized the value of corroboration of details of an informant's tip by independent police work”).

Third, the informant gave very vague information; he or she did not identify who might be found at the residence, what ingredients were being used, what method of manufacture was being used, or how he or she came to be in the residence. *State v. Sullivan*, 267 S.C. 610, 613, 230 S.E.2d 621, 624 (1976) (specificity of the informant's statements coupled with the absence of ulterior motives show sufficient reliability). As noted, the warrant stated that there was an active methamphetamine lab and that the “*confidential informant working in an undercover capacity with the Laurens County Sheriff’s Office*” was at that location and did see numerous items that used in the fashion of methamphetamine.” R. 18, ll. 7-13 (*emphasis added*).

However, the return on the warrant listed fifteen specific items law enforcement was looking for, only two of which were found at the residence. *Id.* The State argued that law enforcement was simply writing down anything they believed could be used to manufacture methamphetamines before the search and then comparing it to what they found at the residence. R. 39, ll. 19-21.

If this is the case, then it appears the informant’s statements to law enforcement about what methamphetamine ingredients were in the residence were so vague that they could not reasonably anticipate what evidence of a crime would be found. Furthermore, the HCL generator, highlighted by the State at trial as the bridge between possession of legal-household ingredients and methamphetamine production, was not on the warrant return. R. 40, ll. 2-11.

Fourth, the informant’s identity was never disclosed, preventing an evaluation of informant’s involvement in the alleged drug activity or any ulterior motives. *Bellamy*, 323 S.C. at 205, 473 S.E.2d at 841 (non-confidential informant should be given higher level of credibility for purposes of determining existence of probable cause to support issuance of search warrant, as

such informant exposes himself to public view and to possible civil and criminal liability should information prove to be false).

Finally, the good faith exception is inapplicable because Deputy Moody should have reasonably known that he did not provide the magistrate with sufficient information concerning the informant's reliability, basis of knowledge, and veracity upon which the magistrate could base a probable cause determination. *State v. Johnson*, 302 S.C. 243, 248, 395 S.E.2d 167, 169 (1990).

As will be discussed in Section II, Moody made materially false representations on the warrant affidavit and the exclusionary rule exists to deter such behavior. *Leon*, 468 U.S. 897 at 919, 104 S.Ct. 3405 at 3419. The search warrant affidavit and testimony in this case were exactly the kind of conclusory statements the Supreme Court warned against in *Illinois v. Gates*. 462 U.S. at 238, 103 S.Ct. at 2333-2334.

The Court of Appeals erred by affirming the trial court's refusal to suppress the evidence found during the execution of a search warrant because the search warrant affidavit and supplemental testimony was insufficient to establish a substantial basis for probable cause. *See* U.S. Const. amend. IV; *see also* S.C. Code Ann. § 17-13-140 (1985); *United States v. Leon*, 468 U.S. 897, 923 (1984) (*citing Franks v. Delaware*, 438 U.S. 154 (1978)).

## II.

**The Court of Appeals erred by affirming the trial court's upholding of the search warrant because, to the extent the magistrate may have had a substantial basis to believe probable cause existed, the magistrate was misled by knowingly false statements made by law enforcement which were material to the determination of probable cause.**

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