STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

\_\_\_\_\_  
Appeal from Laurens County  
Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

**RECEIVED**

APR 19 2018

**SC SUPREME COURT**

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

JAMES CLYDE DILL, JR.,

Petitioner  
~~Appellant.~~

\_\_\_\_\_  
**RETURN TO PETITION FOR  
WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

**Appellate Case No. 2013-000724**

\_\_\_\_\_  
ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER  
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

DAVID M. STUMBO  
Solicitor, Eighth Judicial Circuit

P. O. Box 516  
Greenwood, SC 29649-0516  
(864) 942-8800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

"The affidavit must contain sufficient underlying facts and information upon which the magistrate may make a determination of probable cause." State v. Philpot, 317 S.C. 458, 461, 454 S.E.2d 905, 907 (Ct. App. 1995). "A search warrant that is insufficient in itself to establish probable cause may be supplemented by sworn oral testimony." State v. Weston, 329 S.C. 287, 290, 494 S.E.2d 801, 802 (1997).

In determining the validity of the warrant, a reviewing court may consider only information brought to the magistrate's attention. State v. Gentile, 373 S.C. 506, 513-14, 646 S.E.2d 171, 174 (Ct. App. 2007). Items not specified in a search warrant may be seized if there is a sufficient nexus between the items seized and the criminal activity. State v. McGuinn, 268 S.C. 112, 232 S.E.2d 229 (1977).

"Probable cause is a flexible, common sense standard" that "does not import absolute

certainty.” State v. Fletcher, 363 S.C. 221, 609 S.E.2d 572, 587 (Ct. App. 2005) *rev’d on other grounds by State v. Fletcher*, 379 S.C. 17, 664 S.E.2d 480 (2008). While supporting affidavits must contain sufficient underlying facts and information upon which the magistrate can make a probable cause determination, they are “not meticulously drawn by lawyers, but are normally drafted by non-lawyers in the haste of a criminal investigation, and should therefore be viewed in a common sense and realistic fashion.” Id. “Affidavits must be judged on the facts presented and not on the precise wording used.” Id. at 587-88.

Justin Moody was a Deputy with the Laurens County Sheriff’s Office on February 15, 2011. Moody testified he received information from an individual of possible manufacturing of methamphetamine at Dill’s residence. Moody testified he received information from this person twice before that proved reliable and led to two arrests. Moody testified the information indicated items used to manufacture methamphetamine were at the residence. Moody prepared and signed an affidavit and presented the affidavit to Magistrate Copeland. ROA. pp. 24-26. In the affidavit Moody attests to the following:

Laurens County Sheriff’s Office has received information in the last 72 hours that at the above listed location an active methamphetamine lab is in operation. A confidential informant working in an undercover capacity with the Laurens County Sheriff’s Office was at this location and did see numerous items that are used in the manufacturing of methamphetamine.

ROA. at 146 (Search warrant affidavit). Magistrate Copeland then issued a search warrant based on the information provided. ROA. p. 26.

“[A] warrant based solely on information provided by a confidential informant must

contain information supporting the credibility of the informant and the basis of his knowledge.” State v. 192 Coin-Operated Video Game Machines, 338 S.C. 176, 192, 525 S.E.2d 872, 881 (2000). For instance, the search warrant in State v. Hammond, 270 S.C. 347, 242 S.E.2d 411 (1978), was upheld where the affidavit indicated the confidential informant saw use and sale of drugs at the location within the last 48 hours, the affiant knew the informant for three years, and the informant furnished information in the past leading to the arrest and conviction of known drug dealers. Id. at 353, 242 S.E.2d at 414.

In the instant case, the information provided to the magistrate was sufficient for the magistrate to conclude there was a fair probability evidence of a crime would be found. The affidavit indicated the informant was at the location and saw numerous items used in the manufacture of methamphetamine and an active methamphetamine lab was in operation. Moody testified the informant provided information in the past that was reliable and led to two arrests. Therefore, the affidavit provided the basis of the informant’s knowledge, and Moody provided information attesting to the informant’s proven reliability. Therefore, the trial court did not err in denying the motion to suppress evidence from the search.

## II.

**The trial court did not err in denying the motion to suppress the search warrant because the inaccurate portion of the search warrant was not the result of an intentional or reckless disregard for the truth and the search warrant still would support probable cause without the misstatement. The issue is not preserved for review.**

Dill claims the trial court erred in failing to suppress the search warrant because the

search warrant mistakenly claims the informant was working undercover for law enforcement when he observed the methamphetamine lab in operation. The variance does not rise to an intentional or reckless falsity, and even excluding this fact from the search warrant, the search warrant supports a finding of probable cause. Therefore, the trial court did not err in denying the motion to suppress the evidence seized under the warrant. Further, Dill did not move to suppress the search warrant on this basis.

While Dill complained the warrant was insufficient and noted the inaccuracy in the warrant, Dill never argued the warrant should be suppressed for a Franks violation or argued that the inaccuracy rose to the level of an intentional or reckless disregard for the truth. See ROA. p. 37, lines 5-16. An argument not raised and ruled on by the trial court is not preserved for appeal. State v. Nichols, 325 S.C. 111, 481 S.E.2d 118 (1997) (objection must be entered on a specific ground at trial to preserve an appeal); Humbert v. State, 345 S.C. 332, 548 S.E.2d 862 (2001). “[I]t is the responsibility of trial counsel to preserve issues for appellate review.” Jackson v. Speed, 326 S.C. 289, 306 S.E.2d 750, 759 (1997). The ground raised in support of a claim of error on appeal must be the same ground offered in support of the objection at trial. State v. Smith, 337 S.C. 27, 34, 522 S.E.2d 598, 601 (1999). His failure to raise this issue based on a Franks violation precludes review on appeal on that basis.

Further, the discrepancy does not constitute a Franks violation and the warrant is sufficient. “Where the defendant makes a substantial preliminary showing that a false statement knowingly and intentionally, or with reckless disregard for the truth, was included

by the affiant in the warrant affidavit, and if the allegedly false statement is necessary to the finding of probable cause, the Fourth Amendment requires that a hearing be held at the defendant's request." Franks v. Delaware, 438 U.S. 154, 155-56 (1978).

"If a Franks hearing is appropriate and an affiant's material perjury or recklessness is established by a preponderance of the evidence, the warrant must be voided and evidence or testimony gathered pursuant to it must be excluded." United States v. Colkley, 899 F.2d 297, 300 (4th Cir. 1990) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted).

If a defendant alleges there are misstatements in a search warrant affidavit, he is entitled to an evidentiary hearing if (1) the allegations are not conclusory and are supported by more than a mere desire to cross-examine; (2) there are allegations of deliberate falsehood or reckless disregard for the truth which are supported by an offer of proof; and (3) the affiant made the allegedly false or reckless statement. State v. Jones, 342 S.C. 121, 127, 536 S.E.2d 675, 678 (2000). Even if those criteria are met, however, no hearing is required if the alleged false or erroneous information is set aside and the remaining information in the warrant affidavit is sufficient to support a finding of probable cause. State v. Missouri, 337 S.C. 548, 524 S.E.2d 394, 396-97 (1999) (citing Franks).

In Jones, the affiant, a police officer, provided an affidavit that an agent of the Florence Combined Drug Unit observed cocaine stored on the premises to be searched. However, the person was not an agent, but a confidential informant. The affiant testified he deliberately stated the person was a police officer to protect the confidential informant. So the affiant's statement was deliberately false. The police officer told the magistrate the

person was not an agent, but an informant, and he used the term agent to protect the identity of the informant. However, the magistrate testified at the hearing challenging the warrant that even after the police officer provided the verbal information, he was still under the impression that the “agent/informant” was a police officer. The magistrate testified he would have asked more questions if he knew the person was merely an informant and not a police officer. Jones, 342 S.C. at 125-26, 536 S.E.2d at 677.

This Court agreed with the Court of Appeals’ assessment that the veracity of the informant was not established due to the false term in the affidavit. The Supreme Court concluded, “oral information may only be used by an affiant to supplement or to amend incorrect information in an affidavit which was not knowingly, intentionally, or recklessly supplied by the affiant.” Jones, 342 S.C. at 128-29, 536 S.E.2d at 679.

In Missouri, the lead detective submitted an affidavit that claimed the informant stated for the past two months he purchased a total of two kilograms of cocaine from Missouri. The affidavit also indicated Missouri and an accomplice known as “Hot Sauce” told the informant they were going to Atlanta to get cocaine in order to make crack and would sell crack to the informant when they returned. The affidavit also stated Hot Sauce later told the informant Missouri and Hot Sauce had the crack cocaine and would call the informant “when it was right.” Missouri, 337 S.C. at 395, 524 S.E.2d at 550-552.

At a hearing, the lead detective testified the affidavit was false because Hot Sauce never told his informant there was crack in Hot Sauce’s apartment. In fact, the informant was told Missouri had “the stuff” but it was not at Hot Sauce’s house, the location where the

search warrant was executed. The informant left Hot Sauce's house and told the lead detective the crack cocaine was not there and Hot Sauce told the informant he did not want to cook at his house because his wife was trying to go straight. Id. at 396, 524 S.E.2d at 553.

This Court found the lead detective acted at least recklessly by including the false information and concluded that omitting the false information and including the omissions, there would not have been sufficient evidence to support the magistrate's finding of probable cause. Id. at 555, 524 S.E.2d at 397. This Court noted that taking out the false information alone was not fatal: "Standing alone, these facts are not conclusive as to the presence of crack cocaine in Hot Sauce's apartment, but they make it a fair probability." Id. at 556, 524 S.E.2d at 398. However, this Court concluded, including the omitted information, "the probable presence of the crack cocaine in the apartment is defeated." Id.

In the instant case, unlike Jones and Missouri, the variance does not rise to the level of deliberate or reckless falsity. "Allegations of negligence or innocent mistake are insufficient." Franks, 438 U.S. at 171. The mistake of fact – that the informant was working with law enforcement in this particular case – fails to rise to anything more than an unintended misstatement. See Colkley, 899 F.2d at 301 (noting "the defendant must show that the omission is the product of a deliberate falsehood or of reckless disregard for the truth" (internal quotation marks and citation omitted)).

Further, taking out the information that the informant was working with law enforcement does not alter the information relied on for probable cause. The informant is still someone who provided information twice in the past that led to arrests and still viewed

the methamphetamine lab. The statement does not alter the veracity of the informant or the information he provided. Whether working for law enforcement or merely acting as a tipster, probable cause is determined from the informant's observations which were still outside the purview of law enforcement. Accordingly, the misstatement does not result in the search warrant being invalid.

### III.

**Where the confidential informant was a mere tipster and was not a participant in the crime, the trial court did not err in declining to require the State to disclose the identity of the confidential informant.**

Dill claims the trial court erred in failing to grant his motion to compel the State to reveal the identity of the confidential informant. However, the confidential informant was merely a tipster and did not participate in the investigation. Accordingly, disclosure is not warranted. This Court has observed the following:

The disclosure of the identity of one who is merely an informer and not a participant nor a material witness is not generally required. Where, however, the informer is also a participant and/or a material witness on the issue of guilt or innocence, disclosure may or may not be required depending on various factors and circumstances.

State v. Wright, 322 S.C. 484, 488, 472 S.E.2d 642, 645 (Ct. App. 1996). This Court noted that “the trial court must balance the public’s interest in perpetrating the flow of vital information to law enforcement officials against the right of the individual to prepare his defense.” Id.

The Supreme Court has observed “an informant’s identity need not be disclosed where he possesses only a peripheral knowledge of the crime or is a mere ‘tipster’ who supplies a lead to law enforcement.” State v. Humphries, 354 S.C. 87, 90, 579 S.E.2d 613, 615 (2003). “The burden is upon the defendant to show the facts and circumstances entitling him to the disclosure.” Id.

In the instant case, Dill’s main contention is that law enforcement relied exclusively on the informant in order to have a search warrant issued. That is simply an insufficient reason to force revealing an informant’s identity. “[T]he identity of an informant who has supplied probable cause for the issuance of a search warrant need not be disclosed where such disclosure is sought merely to aid in attacking probable cause.” People v. Hobbs, 873 P.2d 1246, 1251 (Cal. 1994) (emphasis removed); see also United States v. Gray, 47 F.3d 1359, 1365 (4th Cir. 1995) (concluding “Gray’s request for disclosure is controlled by the well settled principle that the government is permitted to withhold the identity of a confidential informant when ‘the informant was used only for the limited purpose of obtaining a search warrant.’” (citations omitted)).

Additionally, Dill speculates that merely because a year had passed at the time of trial, it was possible the informant was no longer providing information to law enforcement. Considering that informants face the possibility of retribution by the accused, and the informant in this case may have continued to provide helpful information to law enforcement past the time of trial, Dill’s self-serving musings carry no weight.

Further, Dill’s contention of any benefit to him at trial from having the informant

available is highly speculative and unlikely. It is highly likely the informant could have provided helpful testimony for the prosecution, but presumably other considerations, such as the continued utility of the informant, mitigated against the State presenting the informant as a witness.

#### IV.

**The trial court did not err in denying the motion for directed verdict as sufficient evidence was presented to the jury that Dill manufactured or attempted to manufacture methamphetamine. The issue is not preserved for review.**

Dill argues the trial court erred in denying his motion for directed verdict because evidence fails to support an overt act sufficient to constitute an attempt. However, evidence indicates the crime was completed. Further, the State proved steps beyond mere preparation as not only were several ingredients for methamphetamine found in Dill's residence, but an assembled HCl generator was found, a necessary tool for making methamphetamine.

First, the issue is not preserved for review. Dill argued lack of constructive possession and lack of intent, but never argued the absence of an overt act. Issues not raised to the trial court in support of the directed verdict motion are not preserved for appellate review. State v. Russell, 345 S.C. 128, 132, 546 S.E.2d 202, 204 (Ct. App. 2001); State v. Jordan, 255 S.C. 86, 177 S.E.2d 464 (1970). A party cannot argue one ground for directed verdict at trial and in turn argue an alternative ground on appeal. State v. Bailey, 298 S.C. 1, 377 S.E.2d 581 (1989). Accordingly, this Court should refrain from reviewing this issue.

However, sufficient evidence supports submitting this charge to the jury. Under S.C. Code § 44-53-375(B): "A person who manufactures, distributes, dispenses delivers,

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